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To Maisie






    I saw battle-corpses, myriads of them,

    And the white skeletons of young men, I saw them,

    I saw the debris and debris of all the slain soldiers of the war,

    But I saw they were not as was thought,

    They themselves were fully at rest, they suffer’d not,

    The living remain’d and suffer’d, the mother suffer’d,

    And the wife and the child and the musing comrade suffer’d,

    And the armies that remain’d suffer’d.

—Walt Whitman, “When Lilacs Last in the Dooryard Bloom’d”

Neither party expected for the war the magnitude or the duration which it has already attained. Neither anticipated that the cause of the conflict might cease with or even before the conflict itself should cease. Each looked for an easier triumph, and a result less fundamental and astounding. Both read the same Bible and pray to the same God, and each invokes His aid against the other. It may seem strange that any men should dare to ask a just God’s assistance in wringing their bread from the sweat of other men’s faces, but let us judge not, that we be not judged.

—Abraham Lincoln, Second Inaugural Address








CHAPTER ONE The End Begins
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ABRAHAM LINCOLN: By spring 1864 it was clear that the nation’s fate hinged on the president’s success or failure at the November polls.



Washington, DC, had never, in its brief and undistinguished history, known a social season like this one. The winter of 1863–64 had been bitterly cold, but its frozen rains and swirling snows had dampened no spirits. Instead a feeling, almost palpable, of optimism hung in the air, a swelling sense that, after three years of brutal war and humiliating defeats at the hands of rebel armies, God was perhaps in his heaven, after all. The inexplicably lethal Robert E. Lee had finally been beaten at Gettysburg.1 Vicksburg had fallen, completing the Union conquest of the Mississippi River. A large rebel army had been chased from Chattanooga. Something like hope—or maybe just its shadow—had finally loomed into view.

The season had begun as always with a New Year’s reception at the Executive Mansion, hosted by the Lincolns, then had launched itself into a frenzy whose outward manifestation was the city’s newest obsession: dancing. Washingtonians were crazy about it. They were seen spinning through quadrilles, waltzes, and polkas at the great US Patent Office Ball, the Enlistment Fund Ball, and at “monster hops” at Willard’s hotel and the National.2 At these affairs, moreover, everyone danced. No bored squires or sad-eyed spinsters lingered in the shadows of cut glass and gaslight. No one could sit still, and together all improvised a wildly moving tapestry of color: ladies in lace and silk and crinolines, in crimson velvet and purple moire, their cascading curls flecked with roses and lilies, their bell-shaped forms whirled by men in black swallowtails and colored cravats.

The great public parties were merely the most visible part of the social scene. That winter had seen an explosion of private parties as well. Limits were pushed here, too, budgets broken, meals set forth of quail, partridge, lobster, terrapin, and acreages of confections. Politicians such as Secretary of State William Seward and Congressman Schuyler “Smiler” Colfax threw musical soirees. The spirit of the season was evident in the wedding of the imperially lovely Kate Chase—daughter of Treasury Secretary Salmon P. Chase—to Senator William Sprague. Sprague’s gift to Kate was a $50,000 tiara of matched pearls and diamonds. When the bride appeared, the US Marine Band struck up “The Kate Chase March,” a song written by a prominent composer for the occasion.3

What was most interesting about these evenings, however, was less their showy proceedings than the profoundly threatened world in which they took place. It was less like a world than a child’s snow globe: a small glittering space enclosed by an impenetrable barrier. For in the winter of 1863–64, Washington was the most heavily defended city on earth. Beyond its houses and public buildings stood thirty-seven miles of elaborate trenches and fortifications that included sixty separate forts, manned by fifty thousand soldiers. Along this armored front bristled some nine hundred cannons, many of large caliber, enough to blast entire armies from the face of the earth.4 There was something distinctly medieval about the fear that drove such engineering.

The danger was quite real. Since the Civil War had begun, Washington had been threatened three times by large armies under Robert E. Lee’s command.5 After the Union defeat at the Second Battle of Bull Run in August 1862, a rebel force under Lee’s lieutenant Stonewall Jackson had come within twenty miles of the capital while driving the entire sixty-thousand-man Union army back inside its fortifications, where the bluecoats cowered and licked their wounds and thanked heaven for all those earthworks and cannons.6

A year and a half later, the same fundamental truth informed those lively parties. Without that cordon militaire, they could not have existed. Washington’s elaborate social scene was a brocaded illusion: what the capital’s denizens desperately wanted the place to be, not what it actually was.

This garishly defended capital was still a smallish, grubby, corrupt, malodorous, and oddly pretentious municipality whose principal product, along with legislation and war making, was biblical sin in its many varieties. Much of the city had been destroyed in the War of 1812. What had replaced the old settlement was both humble and grandiose. Vast quantities of money had been spent to build the city’s precious handful of public buildings: the Capitol itself (finished in December 1863), the Post Office Building, the Smithsonian Institution, the US Patent Office, the US Treasury, and the Executive Mansion. (The Washington Monument, whose construction had been suspended in 1854 for lack of funds, was an abandoned and forlorn-looking stump.)7

But those structures stood as though on a barren plain. The Corinthian columns of the Post Office Building may have been worthy of the high Renaissance, but little else in the neighborhood was. The effect was jarring, as though pieces of the Champs-Élysées had been dropped into a swamp. Everything about the place, from its bloody and never-ending war to the faux grandiosity of its windswept plazas, suggested incompleteness. Like the Washington Monument, it all seemed half-finished. The wartime city held only about eighty thousand permanent residents, a pathetic fraction of the populations of New York (800,000) and Philadelphia (500,000), let alone London (2.6 million) or Paris (1.7 million).8 Foreign travelers, if they came to the national capital at all, found it hollow, showy, and vainglorious. British writer Anthony Trollope, who visited the city during the war and thought it a colossal disappointment, wrote:


Washington is but a ragged, unfinished collection of unbuilt broad streets.… Of all the places I know it is the most ungainly and most unsatisfactory; I fear I must also say the most presumptuous in its pretensions. Taking [a] map with him… a man may lose himself in the streets, not as one loses oneself in London between Shoreditch and Russell Square, but as one does so in the deserts of the Holy Land… There is much unsettled land within the United States of America, but I think none so desolate as three-fourths of the ground on which is supposed to stand the city of Washington.9



He might have added that the place smelled, too. Its canals were still repositories of sewage; tidal flats along the Potomac reeked at low tide. Pigs and cows still roamed the frozen streets. Dead horses, rotting in the winter sun, were common sights. At the War Department, one reporter noted, “The gutter [was] heaped up full of black, rotten mud, a foot deep, and worth fifty cents a car load for manure.”10 The unfinished mall where the unfinished Washington Monument stood held a grazing area and slaughterhouse for the cattle used to feed the capital’s defenders.11 The city was both a haven and a dumping ground for the sort of human chaff that collected at the ragged edges of the war zone: deserters from both armies, sutlers (civilians who sold provisions to soldiers), spies, confidence men, hustlers, and the like.

Washington had also become the nation’s single largest refuge for escaped slaves, who now streamed through the capital’s rutted streets by the thousands. When Congress freed the city’s thirty-three hundred slaves in 1862, it had triggered an enormous inflow of refugees, mostly from Virginia and Maryland.12 By 1864 fifty thousand of them had moved within Washington’s ring of forts. Many were housed in “contraband camps,” and many suffered in disease-ridden squalor in a world that often seemed scarcely less prejudiced than the one they had left. But they were never going back. They were never going to be slaves again. This was the migration’s central truth, and you could see it on any street corner in the city. Many would make their way into the Union army, which at the end of 1863 had already enlisted fifty thousand from around the country, most of them former slaves.

But the most common sights of all on those streets were soldiers. A war was being fought, one that had a sharp and unappeasable appetite for young men. Several hundred thousand of them had tramped through the city since April 1861, wearing their blue uniforms, slouch hats, and knapsacks. They had lingered on its street corners, camped on its outskirts. Tens of thousands more languished in wartime hospitals. Mostly they were just passing through, on their way to a battlefield or someone’s grand campaign or, if they were lucky, home. Many were on their way to death or dismemberment. In their wake came the seemingly endless supply trains with their shouting teamsters, rumbling wagon wheels, snorting horses, and creaking tack.

Because of these soldiers—unattached young men, isolated, and far from home—a booming industry had arisen that was more than a match for its European counterparts: prostitution. This was no minor side effect of war. Ten percent or more of the adult population were inhabitants of Washington’s demimonde. In 1863, the Washington Evening Star had determined that the capital had more than five thousand prostitutes, with an additional twenty-five hundred in neighboring Georgetown, and twenty-five hundred more across the river in Alexandria, Virginia. That did not count the concubines or courtesans who were simply kept in apartments by the officer corps. The year before, an army survey had revealed 450 houses of ill repute.13 All served drinks and sex. In a district called Murder Bay, passersby could see nearly naked women in the windows and doors of the houses. For the less affluent—laborers, teamsters, and army riffraff—Nigger Hill and Tin Cup Alley had sleazier establishments, where men were routinely robbed, stabbed, shot, and poisoned with moonshine whiskey. The Star could not help wondering how astonished the sisters and mothers of these soldiers would be to see how their noble young men spent their time at the capital.14 Many of these establishments were in the heart of the city, a few blocks from the president’s house and the fashionable streets where the capital’s smart set whirled in gaslit dances.

This was Washington, DC, in that manic, unsettled winter of 1863–64, in the grip of a lengthening war whose end no one could clearly see.



OF ALL THE PARTIES, gatherings, and balls that season, none would be as indelibly etched into the memories of Washingtonians as a public reception at the White House on the wet, blustery night of Tuesday, March 8. President Lincoln held two such receptions a week—known in the day as levees—where he and his wife, Mary, would stand in the doorway to the Blue Room and greet all comers. The president would shake hands, in a manner that reminded people of someone sawing wood, and say “How do?” and perhaps a few more words, then visitors would be passed along to Mary Lincoln, who greeted them in turn. The Tuesday reception was the more formal one. According to a reporter who was there, the well-dressed attendees were as usual “pour[ing] through the drawing rooms into the great East Room, where they circulate in a revolving march to the music of the Marine Band, stationed in an adjoining room.”15

Except that this night was different. At about nine thirty, Lincoln was at his usual perch, wearing a collar one size too large, a badly tied necktie, and his habitual expression of bemused melancholy, when a sudden noise and commotion arose at the entrance to the room.16

From the small crowd at the door, which had sorted itself into a double file, now emerged a man with a slender build, slightly stooped shoulders, mild blue eyes, and an unexceptional beard, wearing the uniform of a Union soldier.17 When Lincoln saw him, all sadness vanished from the president’s face, and he rushed toward the man.

“Why, here is General Grant!” Lincoln exclaimed. “Well, this is a great pleasure, I assure you!”18

As the crowd gaped, the two men chatted amiably, if somewhat awkwardly, for a moment—the stork-like Lincoln was fully eight inches taller than Grant and had to stoop to engage him—whereupon Grant was passed to Secretary of State William Seward, who then presented him to the first lady. As word of the visitor’s arrival traveled rocket-like through the Blue Room and into the crowded East Room, utter pandemonium broke loose. A genteel riot ensued, driven by wild cheers and applause so uninhibited that Secretary of the Navy Gideon Welles found it “rowdy and unseemly.”19 As one observer described it, “Laces were torn, crinoline mashed.” Within minutes, Seward and his charge, Ulysses S. Grant, war hero of the west and the great hope of the Union, were swallowed by the great surge of the crowd.20

As the crowd’s behavior suggested, this was no casual visit. Grant had come to Washington because he had just been promoted by act of Congress to a rank—lieutenant general—that had been held only twice in American history, once by George Washington and once by Winfield Scott, hero of the Mexican-American War. In both cases, the commission was honorary. Thus the modest and unassuming Ulysses S. Grant, known to his army friends as Sam, the antithesis of pomp, circumstance, and military grandeur, was about to become the first full-blown three-star general in US history.21

The immediate impetus for the promotion had been his victory at Chattanooga, Tennessee, in November, where he had broken General Braxton Bragg’s siege and then sent Bragg’s forty-thousand-man Confederate army reeling in retreat, thus confirming what Abraham Lincoln had been thinking anyway: that Grant, among a crowded field of often timid, indecisive, and incompetent Union commanders, was the best choice to win the war. But Chattanooga was merely Grant’s most recent trophy of war. In 1862 he had swallowed a twelve-thousand-man rebel army whole at Fort Donelson, Tennessee, refusing to offer any terms but unconditional surrender. Those words, with their strange, cold, insistent rhythm, had passed immediately into American legend. At Vicksburg, Mississippi, in 1863 he had shocked the nation again by capturing another entire Confederate army, this time containing thirty thousand men. Nor had his attitude toward surrender grown more charitable. When the opposing general had politely suggested a negotiating session to hammer out terms of surrender to “save the further effusion of blood,” Grant replied, “The useless effusion of blood you propose stopping by this course can be ended at any time you may choose by an unconditional surrender of the city and the garrison.” This was more of the same music that had sounded at Fort Donelson, bright and dissonant, and it was like nothing anyone had ever before heard. Where other commanders temporized and hesitated, Grant simply put his head down and hammered forward, like a battering ram.

A good deal more was attached to Grant than these three victories—including a drinking problem that had gotten him dismissed from the army, his questionable performance at the Battle of Shiloh, and a bizarre episode of anti-Semitism in 1862—but for now only the winning mattered. Few people of consequence, in the winter of 1863–64, argued against the promotion of “Unconditional Surrender” Grant, the Union general who won. He was the implacable force, the irresistible power from the west, where the soldiery had not formed a habit of losing.

At Lincoln’s request Congress had promoted Grant, and now, in March, he had been summoned by Secretary of War Edwin Stanton to Washington to accept his new commission as head of all Union armies. Traveling with his thirteen-year-old son, Fred, his close aide John Rawlins, and another officer, Grant had made his way by boat from Louisville to Cincinnati, then by train to Washington, arriving at the station on the afternoon of March 8. He was one of the most celebrated men in the Western World at that moment, and the focus of fierce, often obsessive, national interest. He was probably more popular in the North than Lincoln himself. Grant was so famous that his full-length portrait, field glasses in hand and flanked by a demolished rebel cannon, hung in a committee room in the Capitol.22 His likeness was featured on patriotic posters. Oceans of printer’s ink had been expended describing his battlefield victories.

But few people in the east knew what he looked like, a problem compounded by his not looking like much at all. He had grown up in Ohio, which was very much part of “the west” in the middle nineteenth century. Though he had attended West Point in New York State, he had been to Washington exactly once in his life and had spent his entire military career, including the Civil War, in the Midwest, the far West, or Mexico.

His arrival in the late afternoon of March 8 was almost comically unceremonious. Due to a logistical error, no one had met his train at the station. To all appearances, he was just another sunburned soldier in an army hat and linen duster, stepping off a passenger car, looking blankly around him for whoever had been appointed to greet him. Thus stranded, Grant’s small group took a carriage to the office of army general-in-chief Henry Wager Halleck, in the hope of seeing a familiar face. But Halleck was not there. The group then proceeded to Halleck’s residence, but he was not there either. Having failed three times to find anyone who might welcome him, Grant decided he would just go on to Willard’s hotel, where he had been told rooms had been reserved for him and his party.

The difference between Grant’s arrival and the arrival, nineteen months earlier, of the Union’s leading general George McClellan in Washington following his defeat in the Seven Days Battles, east of Richmond, is worth noting.23 The caravan bearing the baggage of McClellan and his staff consisted of twenty-five six-foot-by-nine-foot wagons, painted dark brown and varnished to a high gleam. The wagons were each drawn by four matched bay horses—both their color and manes had been deliberately coordinated for effect—and each driven by two black attendants in immaculate blue livery. On the side of each wagon, in large gold letters, was the inscription BAGGAGE. HEADQUARTERS. ARMY OF THE POTOMAC. McClellan had arrived like an imperial pasha with one hundred horses and fifty attendants; Grant with only his son and a light suitcase.24 The lordly McClellan had turned out to be an embarrassment, a timid general who had to be coaxed, cajoled, shamed, and threatened into fighting Confederates and who finally had to be gotten rid of.

Grant’s ordeal of anonymity was not quite over. He arrived at Willard’s, quietly checked in as “U. S. Grant and son, Galena, Ill.,” and, still unrecognized, went down to dinner with Fred.25 In the dining room the lightning bolt finally struck. After whispers, more whispers, and a rising commotion, a nearby gentleman banged on his table with a dinner knife, rose, and announced that he had “the honor to inform [the diners] that General Grant was present in the room with them.” The crowd of diners rose to their feet, and soon thunderous cheers were rolling through the room. “My father arose and bowed,” Fred Grant recalled later, “and the crowd began to surge around him; after that, dining became impossible; and an informal reception was held for perhaps three quarters of an hour; but as there seemed to be no end to the crowd assembling, my father left the dining room and retired to his apartments.”26 Word of Grant’s arrival spread quickly. Former secretary of war Simon Cameron soon came to collect him and give him a proper escort to Lincoln’s reception, two blocks away.

What Grant faced inside the East Room made the disturbance at Willard’s seem tame. He was greeted by more booming cheers, but now the possibility that he might be trampled seemed quite real. Secretary of State Seward solved the problem by having Grant climb up onto a sofa, where, in the description of Sacramento Daily Union reporter Noah Brooks,


he could be seen, and where he was secure, at least for a time, from the madness of the multitude. People were caught up and whirled into the torrent which swept through the Great East Room.… Many got up on sofas, chairs, and tables to be out of harm’s way or to get a better view of the spectacle. It was the only real mob I ever saw in the White House. For at least once, the President of the United States was not the chief figure in the picture. The little, scared-looking man who stood on a crimson-colored sofa was the idol of the hour.27



At least sixty minutes passed before Lincoln and a flushed and perspiring Grant were able to hold a conversation.28 In the meantime the people had gotten a glimpse of Grant and were thrilled by what they saw: a plain and modest man whose clear and impassive blue eyes showed both confidence and determination, a man free of the cant and hollow grandeur that had marked some of his predecessors.29 With his immense gifts of command and his humble manner, he managed to be transcendently American.

As a westerner—that was how he thought of himself—Grant had learned to despise the intrigue, corruption, infighting, pettifoggery, and personality-driven politics of Washington. Instinctively, he wanted nothing to do with the place. The regular army had enough of all that anyway. He was a straight-ahead fighter, not someone who bent with political winds. He wanted to be measured by battlefield results. Everyone around him agreed with him that he needed to stay away from Washington—both as a place and as an idea. John Rawlins wrote, of his boss’s Washington visit, “I am doing everything I can to get him away from here.”30 Grant’s sidekick and sometime political conscience William Tecumseh Sherman had advised him, in his letter congratulating him on his promotion, “Do not stay in Washington.… For God’s sake and for your country’s sake, come out of Washington!”31

Now, in the presence of the great Lincoln, Grant was vouchsafed a clear view as to why. Though Lincoln had just met Grant, the president was already stage-managing the events of the next day, when Grant would officially accept his new commission. The president spoke to Grant as though the little general might have trouble understanding how such complicated adult matters worked, as one would to a bright middle schooler.

“I shall then make a very short speech to you,” Lincoln said, “to which I desire you to make a reply… and that you may be properly prepared to do so I have written what I shall say—only four sentences in all—which I will read from my MS. as an example which you may follow and also read your reply, as you are perhaps not as much accustomed to speaking as I, myself—and I therefore give you what I shall say that you may consider it and form your reply.” If this wasn’t quite patronizing enough—perhaps it had momentarily escaped Lincoln that managing the Union armies in the western theater, from the Alleghenies to the Mississippi River, might require some presentational skills—he then went on to tell Grant exactly what he was to say:


There are two points that I would like to have you make in your answer, 1st, to say something which shall prevent or obviate any jealousy of you from any of the other generals in the service, and 2nd, something which shall put you on as good terms as possible with this Army of the Potomac.32



At the ceremony the next day Lincoln read his statement, praising and promoting Grant, and then Grant made his own little speech, which must have entirely lived up to Lincoln’s dismal expectations: choppy, disjointed, and delivered in what one observer called a “struggling” fashion. Grant had scribbled it down in pencil on a half sheet of notepaper and seemed to have trouble reading his own writing. “Mr. President, I accept this commission with gratitude for the high honor conferred, with the aid of the noble armies that have fought on so many fields for our common country.” And so on. He managed to say little, and, perhaps not coincidentally, nothing at all of what his boss had told him to say. Lincoln’s secretary, John G. Nicolay, noted dryly at the time that Grant “had either forgotten or disregarded entirely the president’s hints to him of the night previous.”33

Grant took Sherman’s advice and got the hell out of Washington as soon as he could. He turned down a dinner invitation from Lincoln, saying, “Dinner to me means a million dollars a day lost to the country,” which appealed to Lincoln’s fiscal instincts. He also told Lincoln that he had “become very tired of this show business,” which also pleased the president, who was by then tired of grandstanding generals. Grant made a brief excursion to Brandy Station in northern Virginia to visit the Army of the Potomac and its commander, General George G. Meade—where brass bands greeted Grant in pouring rain—then took a train to Nashville, where he met with his friend Sherman, to whom he handed command of the Union armies in the west.34

When Grant returned east a few days later, it was not to Washington, DC, but to a small town in Virginia called Culpeper Court House. As general in charge of all Union armies, he would not, as his predecessor Major General Henry Wager Halleck had, make his headquarters in the political rat’s nest of Washington. Grant would be at the front. Camped across the Rapidan River from him, just a few miles away, was the single most potent military force on the North American continent, the Army of Northern Virginia, commanded by the other towering military genius of the Civil War, a man whom Grant had never faced on a battlefield. Grant’s mission was simple yet unprecedented in a war that had until now favored conquering real estate instead of armies, cities instead of people: destroy Robert E. Lee. In Grant’s attempt to do that he would unleash, in just a few months, a storm of blood and death that beggared even the killing fields of Gettysburg and Chancellorsville. He would find himself in a world of bitterness, violence, hatred, and retribution that would make the early years of the conflict look innocent and honorable by comparison. He and Lee would soon remake the war into something that neither the country nor its hardened veterans had ever before seen.






CHAPTER TWO With Malice Toward All
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NATHAN BEDFORD FORREST: One of the Confederacy’s most brilliant generals, he presided over the war’s greatest atrocity.



You would have been hard-pressed, in the early spring of 1864, to find a more obscure and militarily irrelevant backwater than Fort Pillow, Tennessee. Located eighty river miles upstream from Memphis on the Mississippi River, it sat on a high bluff and consisted mostly of crude earthworks, just dirt pushed up into walls, with a trench dug at their base.1 The structures looked like something the Celts might have put up to stop the Romans. The fort had been built in the early war by the cowardly and incompetent Confederate general Gideon Pillow and had lived up to its name ever since, failing repeatedly to protect the interests of whoever occupied it, first the Confederacy and then, after 1862, the Union. Fort Pillow was so unnecessary that in January 1864 Major General William Tecumseh Sherman had shut it down, only to see it rise miraculously again, in spite of his orders, to resume its time-tested function of failing to stop rebel guerrilla raids.

Yet a minor military engagement took place here—a month after Ulysses S. Grant’s awkward and portentous arrival in Washington—that would demonstrate better than any other event of that spring the reasons Grant and Lee were about to join their titanic fight. They were not the same reasons the North and the South had fought at the First Battle of Bull Run three years before. Fort Pillow would become both a rallying cry and a line of demarcation, a stark and brutal sign of the revolutionary change that had swept through the war and altered its nature.

Major William F. Bradford, who began Tuesday, April 12, 1864, as second-in-command of the federal garrison at Fort Pillow, didn’t see any of that coming. He had thought that things were going rather well. He would have been astonished to learn that he was about to become a grim historical footnote. The thirty-six-year-old officer was both a Tennessean and a Unionist, the sort of soldier his Confederate countrymen sneeringly called a “Tennessee Tory” or “homemade Yankee.” A traitor, in short. He came from a well-connected family and had personally recruited a battalion of like-minded young men—many of whom were deserters from rebel units in Tennessee—who had joined the US army as the 13th Tennessee Cavalry.2 He had little military experience and was not well suited to command. His soldiers had received minimal training. From February to April he had been the ranking officer at the fort.

Bradford’s main duties were to hunt down partisan raiders in Union-held western Tennessee, recruit new soldiers, and offer safe haven to escaped slaves who crossed into his lines. But he had another charge, too: make the people of the Confederacy feel the hard hand of their Northern masters. The idea had gained currency in Grant’s 1863 Vicksburg campaign and now, in the war’s fourth year, was emerging as full-blown federal policy. Ordinary citizens of the South had once been seen as innocent bystanders. In most cases their personal property had been respected and even protected by Union commanders. Now all that had changed. Civilians were the enemy. They were harborers of guerrillas, suppliers of food to the rebel army, owners of the slaves who produced that food, takers of potshots at Union troops. Their land, crops, farm animals, barns, fences, machinery, and slaves were now seen as part of the larger Confederate war-making apparatus. Landowners were thus to be harassed and taught that their perfidy had consequences that extended beyond the maiming and killing of their sons, brothers, and fathers. The new hard-war policy was about retribution, too, or at least that was what the common soldiers who carried it out believed: it was payback for all those dead Union boys, payback for making war necessary in the first place.3

Thus Bradford’s orders were to “forage liberally,” as the euphemism went, which meant using farms near the fort to feed and equip his troops, seizing horses and stores of food, and engaging in what looked to residents very much like looting, pillaging, and persecution.4 For this, Bradford and his troops were hated by the Tennesseans, and the hatred bore an even sharper edge because they were local boys. They would have been hated even more if they had been the slightest bit effective in hunting down partisan raiders. Other than offering shelter to slaves, deserters, and Unionists, Fort Pillow was the same haphazard military enterprise it had always been.5

In late March an event took place that would change the destinies of both Fort Pillow and Major Bradford. This was the arrival of reinforcements: four companies of heavy artillery and a section of light artillery. But these were not ordinary reinforcements. They were black, members of the 6th US Colored Heavy Artillery and the 2nd US Colored Light Artillery. They were all escaped slaves who had been recruited in Tennessee—from the same areas that they were now commissioned to occupy and pacify. Though black soldiers had fought in a handful of engagements in 1862 and 1863, their presence in combat situations—authorized formally by President Lincoln in January 1863—was still relatively new. Few Confederate soldiers had ever faced them. These recruits were under the command of Major Lionel F. Booth, a white officer who outranked Bradford due to seniority and who assumed command of the fort. Thus bolstered, the Union garrison was roughly six hundred strong, about half black and half white.

They would soon be tested. In the early morning of April 12, a force of fifteen hundred Confederate cavalry appeared suddenly at Fort Pillow, as though they had been dropped from the sky. No one had seen them coming. At sunup the rebels surprised the federal pickets, killed some of them, drove the others in, and attacked the fort. By 9:00 a.m. their sharpshooters had killed Major Booth. Though the garrison’s defenders repulsed several assaults and the Union gunboat New Era had diligently banged away at the antic gray figures on the shore of the Mississippi, by noon the Confederates had forced the federals back into the works atop the bluff and formed a tight noose around the fort. Their success was caused less by ineptness—though these green federal troops did not know what they were doing—than by flaws in the fort’s layout, which prevented its defenders from either hiding or effectively returning fire.6

But the Union’s rapidly deteriorating prospects had another cause, too. Though Bradford—who had assumed command on the death of Booth—did not yet realize it, that morning he was facing one of the South’s most brilliant commanders, a born tactical genius whom Major General William T. Sherman, a man not given to idle praise, called “the most remarkable man our Civil War has produced on either side.” This man, Nathan Bedford Forrest, was the sort of spectacular military accident that only a desperate war could produce. Unlike the overwhelming majority of Confederate general officers, he had neither education nor elevated birth. He grew up poor in middle Tennessee, the son of a blacksmith who died when Nathan was sixteen and left him to care for a large family. Determined to lift himself out of poverty, Forrest built a small business empire out of land, cotton, and slave trading. He became the largest slave dealer in Memphis.7 By the start of the war he was one of the richest men in the South. At the time he knew absolutely nothing of warfare or military operations. He had never been in a militia. He had never read a book on military history or tactics. He was barely literate.

No matter. The war’s particular needs perfectly matched Forrest’s remarkable abilities, and he learned his new trade with astounding speed. He rose in a single year from the rank of private to brigadier general of cavalry. Tall, handsome, humorless, quick to anger, brave to the point of recklessness, he inspired fierce loyalty in his men and was simply better at command than anyone else. He was also better at spotting and exploiting the enemy’s weaknesses. In 1862 he began a series of highly destructive raids that would make him one of the most feared cavalry officers of the war and present a military problem that the Union high command would never fully solve. That Booth and Bradford never saw him coming meant only that they had plenty of company.

For someone of Forrest’s immense talents, the conquest of the defensively flawed Fort Pillow against a callow commander was relatively simple. Sometime around noon, according to Forrest’s aide-de-camp, “It was perfectly apparent to any man endowed with the smallest amount of common sense that to all intents and purposes the fort was ours.”8

That description apparently did not apply to Major William F. Bradford. He was guilty, from the start of the battle, of wildly excessive optimism. He and Booth had felt so secure that they had failed to fully destroy a set of barracks just outside the fort, thus offering their enemies both cover and a clear line of fire into the inner sanctum.9 Bradford believed that the New Era, a stern-wheeler outfitted with six howitzers, could somehow equalize his opponents’ advantage in numbers, even though it was blindingly clear to Forrest’s men that the boat, which had pumped out 282 ineffectual rounds, would have little effect on the battle’s outcome.10 Bradford had also decided, without any corroborating evidence, that three passenger ships that had appeared on the river around noon were carrying Union reinforcements. They turned out to be merely commercial steamers.

At 2:00 p.m. Forrest, a practical soldier who would not shed blood if he did not have to, sent a note to Major Booth (of whose death he was unaware) under a flag of truce, saying:


Your gallant defense of Fort Pillow has entitled you to the treatment of brave men. I now demand the unconditional surrender of your forces, at the same time assuring that you will be treated as prisoners of war. I have received a new supply of ammunition and can take your works by assault, and if compelled to do so you must take the consequences.11



This might have seemed like a conventional demand for surrender. But it was not at all. To this point in the war Confederate commanders had largely refused to give black soldiers the usual rights of prisoners of war. Many had been executed; many had been returned to their owners or sold back into slavery. But General Forrest, known to be a man of his word, was for some reason including them in the deal he now offered the Union commander. Bradford, posing as Booth, temporized, consulted his officers, bargained unsuccessfully for more time, and finally delivered his answer, which probably sounded quite gallant to him: “I will not surrender.”12

This was a spectacularly bad idea. It took the Confederates less than ten minutes to carry the fort’s breastworks, killing most of the federal officers as they rushed forward.13 The valiant Bradford’s own response was to run. “Boys, save your lives,” he yelled. In minutes battle gave way to rout as the hapless federals, black and white, did the only thing they could do: flee in heart-pounding panic over the earthen walls on the far side of the fort and half tumble, half run down the steep slope to the banks of the Mississippi River.14 The black recruits had fought bravely to defend the fort. But their white officers had been killed almost immediately, leaving them with no leadership amid the noise, chaos, and swirling white smoke atop the bluff. Several of them later said they had simply followed the white men of Bradford’s panicking 13th Cavalry over the earthworks and down the hill.15

The escaping men must have felt a moment of elation as they broke free of the murderous fire in the fort and into the clear air of the riverbank, looking prayerfully toward the gunports of the New Era. But a moment was all it was. Once outside the walls the federals found themselves caught in a tailor-made killing zone far worse than what they had faced inside. Now they were being shot at from three directions: by rebel soldiers above on the slope and parapets and by detachments Forrest had placed on the riverbanks both above and below the fort. The New Era, which Bradford had instructed to open fire with shotgun-like canister if the rebels breached the fort—this had seemed like an excellent idea, too—was easily driven off when Forrest ordered one of the fort’s cannons turned on the steamer. There was nowhere to hide, and no way out, except into the Mississippi itself. Many men did plunge into the four-hundred-yard-wide river. But the evidence suggests that most of the besieged federals did the sensible thing: they threw down their weapons and tried to surrender.

That was when the slaughter started—the deliberate shooting by Confederates of unarmed Union soldiers with their hands in the air. The killing seems to have happened spontaneously. No senior officer had given such orders.16 What happened appeared to be an extemporaneous explosion of rage, fueled by the presence of so many black soldiers, by the very idea that white soldiers would command and fight alongside them, and by the taunting of rebel troops by some of those blacks during the truce.17 Later, Confederate brigadier general James R. Chalmers tried to explain his troops’ behavior to a Union gunboat officer. According to the officer, Chalmers said, “The men of General Forrest’s command had such a hatred toward the armed negro that they could not be restrained from killing the negroes after they had captured them.… He said it was nothing better than we could expect so long as we persisted in arming the negro.”18

Indeed, there was something deep-seated and almost primal in white Southerners’ fears of what they insisted on calling a “servile insurrection”—as though they could not bring themselves to utter the words “slave revolt.” Arming slaves and setting them against their masters had been the animating idea behind John Brown’s failed raid at Harpers Ferry in 1859. The horror the raid produced in the South had less to do with its military particulars than with the fact that so many Northerners saw nothing wrong with the idea. People in the North were apparently happy to endorse the disembowelment of Southern white men, women, and children, the rape of white women by black men, and the burning of Southern farms and homes. Such behavior had a precedent, too: Nat Turner’s 1831 slave uprising in tidewater Virginia, in which fifty-five white people were hacked and clubbed to death. Now the US government was officially putting Springfield rifles into the hands of escaped slaves and teaching them how to kill white Southerners. As the song had it, John Brown’s soul was marching on.

The next twenty minutes saw a straightforward butchery of men who were either trying to surrender, had already surrendered, or had been rendered completely helpless. Many were already wounded when they were shot down or hacked apart with sabers. Many were shot repeatedly, often in the head. Most of the violence was directed at black soldiers, though many whites were not spared.

Confederate sergeant Achilles V. Clark, of the 20th Tennessee Cavalry, described the scene in a letter to his sisters two days later:


The slaughter was awful. Words cannot describe the scene. The poor deluded negroes would run up to our men, fall upon their knees, and with uplifted hands scream for mercy, but they were ordered to their feet and then shot down. The white men fared but little better. Their fort turned out to be a slaughter pen. Blood, human blood stood about in pools, and brains could have been gathered up in any quantity.19



The account of Union officer Mack J. Leaming conveys the same sense of horror: “The scene which followed… beggars all description.… Our men were shot down without mercy.… This [was] wholesale butchery of brave men, white as well as black, after they had surrendered.”20

One Union surgeon who found himself in the midst of men who were being shot while “crying for quarter” described how twenty men who were asked to “fall into line” to surrender were shot down in place. Though two of them managed to move away, the remaining eighteen men on the ground “were chopped to pieces with sabres.”21 Soldiers who tried to escape by swimming—in numbers so great “they resembled a drove of hogs,” according to one observer—either drowned or were shot in the water.22 When General Forrest later wrote that “the river was dyed with the blood of the slaughtered for 200 yards,” he was making an accurate and unembellished observation.23

As the massacre progressed and it became clear that surrendering meant certain death, many soldiers, particularly blacks, who had tried to surrender took up their rifles again or tried to flee, which made the scene even more chaotic. An individual’s surrender in the heat of battle was a difficult maneuver anyway, especially when fortifications were carried by assault. One moment a soldier was fighting hard and killing his enemies, and the next moment he was begging them not to do the same to him. What, exactly, made him worthy of such instant mercy, such sudden grace?

The carnage did not stop on the battlefield. Wounded men in the field hospital were killed, as were sick soldiers in tents inside the fort. Some were burned alive when their tents were set on fire. Later testimony by individual black soldiers suggested a cruelty so wanton that it almost defies belief: Daniel Tyler, a former slave from Mississippi and a private in the 6th US Colored Heavy Artillery, was shot at point-blank range after he surrendered. He was shot again by another captor and had his eye jabbed out. He was then buried alive with dead soldiers and dug himself out only with the help of a sympathetic rebel. Arthur Edwards, like Tyler a former Mississippi slave and a private in the same unit, was shot after he surrendered, first in the head, then in the shoulder. Half an hour later he was shot in the head again. One of his attackers said, “God damn you, you are fighting against your master!” Private Manuel Nichols, also with the 6th Colored Heavy Artillery, was wounded inside the fort at the beginning of the fight. He surrendered, then was shot again, this time under his left ear. He was later shot yet again in his right arm.24 These men were among the lucky ones: most of the black soldiers who were shot multiple times did not survive.

What of Major Bradford, whose misguided refusal to surrender had led to the destruction of his battalion? He had fled down the bank to the river’s edge, where he stood with his hands in the air “crying at the top of his voice that he surrendered,” said one observer. When the rebels continued to fire at him, he escaped briefly into the river, then returned to shore and ran back up the bluff, still holding up his hands and screaming, “I surrender.” He survived only because his assailants were poor pistol shots. He finally found a rebel soldier to whom he could surrender.25 He would escape later that evening, then be recaptured the next day by Confederate soldiers and summarily shot to death.

Forrest and other senior officers managed to stop the bloodletting on the riverbank after thirty minutes. Later testimony, however, suggested that killings of wounded black soldiers and black prisoners continued into the night and even the next morning. (Forrest, who had been lightly wounded, spent the night elsewhere.) By the time the last prisoner was executed, nearly half of the six hundred soldiers in Fort Pillow’s garrison were dead. Two-thirds of them were black.26 The death rate for blacks was nearly double that for whites. The rebels took 168 whites prisoner, and only 58 blacks.27 Union witnesses had little doubt that the mass killing at Fort Pillow had violated the most basic rules of warfare, or that the violence had been directed overwhelmingly at African Americans.



THE STORY BECAME a sensation in the North. The Cincinnati Gazette called the incident “one of the most horrible that has disgraced the history of modern warfare.”28 Harper’s Weekly showed rebels bayoneting and shooting unarmed blacks under the headline “The Massacre at Fort Pillow.” Frank Leslie’s Illustrated Newspaper featured the hacking and bludgeoning of helpless Union soldiers.29 Along with the shock and horror came some pointed questions, too. A number of Northern papers challenged the notion that using black soldiers in combat was a good idea in the first place. The Chicago Tribune, while condemning Forrest and his soldiers, suggested that blacks had caused the massacre by running away. The Portland Advertiser took an even more biased view, writing, “Dressing a monkey in the uniform of the government… cannot convert the monkey into a real soldier and attach to him the rights and immunities of a prisoner of war.”30

The most inflammatory account of all came, oddly enough, from the US Congress. In May the Joint Committee on the Conduct of the War published sixty thousand copies of a sensational report based on interviews with witnesses. The language was blunt and brutal and impassioned:


Then followed a scene of cruelty and murder without parallel in civilized warfare.… The rebels commenced an indiscriminate slaughter, sparing neither age nor sex, white nor black soldier nor civilian. The officers seemed to vie with each other in the devilish work. Men, women and their children, wherever found, were deliberately shot down, beaten, and hacked with sabres. Some of the children, not more than ten years old, were forced to stand up and face their murderers while being shot. The sick and wounded were butchered without mercy, the rebels even entering the hospital buildings and dragging them out to be shot.



The report chronicled in bloody detail men shot in the river, men burned to death, men nailed to burning tents and buildings, and men deliberately buried alive.31

Much of what was in the congressional report was true, especially about the killing of unarmed and wounded soldiers. But parts were not true. In their zeal to indict Forrest and his men, Senate investigators had uncritically believed all the testimony they heard, particularly the most outrageous parts. Though a few civilians died, no evidence suggested that women and children were part of the massacre. (Almost all had escaped by boat.) A few federals did end up being buried alive, but no evidence showed that the practice was systematic. Some had been buried alive because they were pretending—with good reason—to be dead. Though witnesses did report two bodies nailed to wood and burned alive, this was only hearsay; no one actually saw it. Several wounded soldiers were indeed inside tents when they were burned by Confederate troops, but at least some of this was accidental.32

Forrest agreed with the authors of the report that a massacre had taken place. There was no getting around the body count. The sticking point, and the question that was pursued through thousands of newspaper articles in both the North and South and investigations by both the US army and Congress, was, What had made the soldiers do it? Had the killing of unarmed men been ordered by General Forrest? Early statements from some witnesses suggested that it had, and this was the first and most shocking conclusion many Northerners came away with: that the “battle” was just premeditated murder.

Forrest, who overnight became a figure of evil incarnate in the North, flatly denied the charge. In his version his opponents had never surrendered and had continued to fight as the battle moved out onto the riverbank. The Union soldiers had brought this savagery on themselves, Forrest insisted, by refusing to stop fighting and by running away. Most of the testimony from participants and observers suggested that this was not true. But neither did any specific evidence suggest that Forrest had ordered his men to shoot unarmed federals. Forrest argued that the high death rate of blacks was due to the innate racial superiority of his white troops. “It is hoped that these facts will demonstrate to the Northern people that negro soldiers cannot cope with Southerners,” he wrote in a letter the day after the battle. To Forrest, “slaughter” was simply what happened when white troops faced blacks.33

Such arguments carried little weight in the North. The message of the congressional report was clear and easy to understand: Fort Pillow was the single greatest atrocity of the Civil War, proof of the cruelty, moral degeneracy, and savage racism of the Southern soldier.



THE WAR HAD BEGUN as a fight, undertaken by the United States of America—or what was left of it—to restore the Union. That is what President Abraham Lincoln said the war was about. He said it again and again. Those bright-eyed young men in blue uniforms who marched forth into the mysterious lands of the Confederacy were simply trying to force the eleven prodigal states back inside the commonwealth. Wholeness, completeness, was the goal. Congress, too, agreed that this was the purpose of the war and said so with great clarity in the Crittenden-Johnson Resolution, a measure passed almost unanimously in 1861 saying that the Union government would take no actions against the institution of slavery. What the war was absolutely and incontrovertibly not about, said the wise men who wielded most of the power in Washington, was freeing the slaves. Thus “victory” in the war and reestablishment of the Union did not mean that slave owners in Alabama or North Carolina would lose either their property or their peculiar social and economic system. Victory meant returning to the status quo, a unified republic under a single federal government. “I have no purpose, directly or indirectly,” Lincoln stated in his First Inaugural Address in March 1861, in case his constituents were still unclear about his intentions, “to interfere with the institution of slavery in the states where it exists. I believe I have no right to do so, and I have no inclination to do so.”

His position was pure political artifice, of course, a sort of dance through the rhetorical raindrops of the great sectional conflict that had been boiling for fifty years. He was playing to an electorate that included opponents of abolition in places such as New England as well as the residents of border slave states. He needed their support in his war effort, and he would not get it if he even hinted the war was really about abolishing slavery or saving black people so that they could flood Northern job markets with cheap labor.

This flag of convenience infuriated abolitionists, none more so than Lincoln’s most visible critic on the subject of slavery, Frederick Douglass. Douglass was one of the most remarkable men of his era. He had escaped bondage in Maryland, moved north to Massachusetts, and made a career as an activist and author. His riveting speeches and the harrowing tales of his own life in two prewar autobiographies did much to change Northern perceptions of the institution of slavery. He was determined, above all, in the first two years of the war, to change Lincoln’s mind, to force him to acknowledge publicly the reality Douglass saw: that the war must inevitably be a crusade against slavery.34 To Douglass and other abolitionists, omitting slavery’s abolition from the political equation of the war seemed impractical if not immoral. Douglass insisted that he had “a right to hold Abraham Lincoln sternly responsible for any disaster or failure attending the suppression of this rebellion.” Horace Greeley, editor of the New-York Daily Tribune, wrote that Lincoln was “disastrously remiss in the discharge of [his] official and imperative duty.”35

Lincoln abhorred slavery. But he was convinced that the issue could only be properly addressed—whether by compensated emancipation or gradual emancipation or by some far-fetched scheme such as shipping blacks back to Africa (an idea Lincoln loved)—by a pacified, unified, restored Union. Lincoln’s reasoning was on display in a public letter to Greeley in which Lincoln demonstrated the sort of verbal acrobatics required to embrace the issue:


My paramount object in this struggle is to save the Union, and is not either to save or to destroy slavery. If I could save the Union without freeing any slave I would do it, and if I could save the Union by freeing all the slaves then I would do it, and if I could save it by freeing some and leaving others alone I would also do that. What I do about slavery, and the colored race, I do because I believe it helps to save the Union.



Thus Lincoln’s great pragmatism, his realpolitik. The subtext here was fully apparent to people of the time: any move to free slaves or to declare that the war was about abolishing slavery would instantly threaten the loyalty of the “border states.” These were the deeply divided, politically explosive slave states that had not seceded: Maryland, Delaware, Kentucky, and Missouri. Lincoln considered them crucial to the Union victory. With their roads, railways, and rivers, the border states were critical as gateways to the deeper South. Their population of 2.6 million white people, half as many as in the entire eleven states of the Confederacy, constituted a deep military recruiting pool that could turn the tide of the war. And the industrial effects of border-state defection were potentially staggering. If Maryland and Delaware alone seceded, the Confederacy’s manufacturing capacity would instantly double. Just how desperate Lincoln was to keep those states in the Union was evident when he suspended habeas corpus—the sacred American right of an arrested person to appear in court and be informed of the charges against him—in Maryland in the war’s first year.

Nor had the Northern population in general yet come around to the idea. At the start of the war most of the people and the politicians in the North were not abolitionists. They were, as a whole, white supremacists who believed in the inalienable superiority of the white race and were profoundly uncomfortable, both economically and socially, with the idea of 4 million former slaves suddenly mixing with whites. They did not advocate universal emancipation. The majority of them did not believe that their fathers and brothers and sons were fighting and dying for the sole purpose of freeing blacks from bondage so they could compete with white people for jobs or, heaven forbid, marry them. The North came only slowly to even a partial enlightenment on the subject of race.

But abolitionism as a movement—based on the principle of immediate freedom for all slaves—had grown with astonishing speed, moving from the margins of politics, where it had resided before the war, to center stage. Abolitionists had once been seen by large sections of the population as fanatics and cranks. Now, in response to this horrifically bloody and expensive war, public opinion was undergoing a radical shift, goaded on by a constant stream of speeches and articles by Douglass and fellow abolitionists such as William Lloyd Garrison.36

Lincoln’s resolve had thus been put to several tests.

The first came in August 1861, when Union general John C. Frémont placed the state of Missouri under martial law and unilaterally declared that the property and slaves of rebels would be confiscated and their slaves freed. Lincoln angrily revoked the order a week later, prompting screams of protest from the antislavery crowd. Eight months later, Union general David Hunter, commander of the coastal forces in South Carolina, Georgia, and Florida, announced that all slaves in those states were free. Lincoln slapped him down, too, and immediately rescinded the order. William Lloyd Garrison, a leading abolitionist, accused the president of “serious dereliction of duty” and suggested that though he was “six feet four inches high, he is only a dwarf in mind.”37 Nor was Lincoln interested in enforcing Congress’s Confiscation Acts, laws that allowed Union seizure of rebel property and freed the slaves belonging to the Confederate army and to Confederate civil and military officials. Lincoln saw the acts as damaging the cause of union with conservatives and, most important, threatening the loyalty of his sacred border states. So he slow-walked the law’s promulgation.38 He wasn’t ready to free anyone’s slaves. Not yet. Douglass and other abolitionists howled in protest. A month after Lincoln had overruled Frémont, Douglass gave a blistering speech in Rochester, New York, entitled “The American Apocalypse,” in which he criticized those politicians who, to unite the North, refused to support the total abolition of slavery.

But Lincoln was listening more closely than anyone imagined, and was changing his mind faster and more completely than almost anyone realized.

While dragging his feet on enforcing the Confiscation Acts and revoking General Hunter’s orders, Lincoln was also busy working on the Emancipation Proclamation, a draft of which he delivered to his cabinet in the summer of 1862. He waited only for a victory on the battlefield to formally issue it. When the Union army finally managed to not lose a battle—at Antietam on September 17, 1862 (which it didn’t actually win, either, but close was good enough)—Lincoln saw his opportunity.39

On September 22 he issued the proclamation, stating that unless the seceded states rejoined the Union by January 1, 1863, all slaves in those states would be “thenceforward and forever free.” Lincoln would use his war powers to confiscate enemy property. Slaves in the loyal border states would thus be exempt from the order, an exception that showed how deeply the president was still in thrall to the tortured politics in those states, and one that appalled Douglass and other abolitionists, though they were pleased that Lincoln had at least freed the slaves of the Confederacy.

When the proclamation came into force in January, Lincoln added a single clarifying paragraph to the already revolutionary, nation-transforming text: “I further declare and make known that such persons [former slaves] of suitable condition, will be received into the armed service of the United States to garrison forts, positions, stations, and other places, and to man vessels of all sorts in said service.”40 Blacks had previously been allowed in the army; now they would be able to carry weapons and fight. This was not simply a moral imperative. Lincoln saw it as military necessity. He had to find employment for the five hundred thousand to seven hundred thousand escaped slaves who had sought shelter behind federal lines. He needed to deprive the Confederacy of manpower. In a looming war of attrition, he needed warm bodies at the front. Lincoln believed that black soldiers would win the war, and that is what he told General Grant. “I believe it is a resource which, if vigorously applied now, will soon close the contest,” he wrote.41

Thus with a stroke of the pen Lincoln had transformed the war from a morally unanchored attempt to reunite a divided nation into a war for the freedom of the nation’s 4 million slaves—a war of black liberation. Just as radically, he had asserted that an army of black men would be raised from the native soil and would become the instruments of their own deliverance. While the goal of universal abolition hung suspended in the fog of war, the first and most critical phase of Lincoln’s emancipation campaign was actually enlistment: black men mustering in and putting on uniforms and learning how to march and shoot with their white counterparts. And with enlistment came, quite possibly, true social revolution. “Never since the world began was a better chance offered to a long enslaved and oppressed people,” wrote Douglass. “Once let a black man get upon him the brass letters U. S.; let him get an eagle on his button and a musket on his shoulder, and bullets in his pocket, and there is no power on earth or under the earth which can deny that he has earned the right of citizenship in the United States.” A black soldier in the army ranks was the best argument in the world against—as Confederate vice president Alexander Stephens put it—“the great truth that the negro is not equal to the white man, that slavery, subordination to the superior race, is his natural and normal condition.”42

By the time of the Battle of Fort Pillow, black soldiers—both free men and former slaves—had fought in only a handful of engagements. Their experience of the war had been uniformly harsh. They suffered abuse at the hands of white officers: whippings and beatings reminiscent of their days as slaves. They were insulted by common soldiers, given atrocious medical care and discriminatory duties (such as digging latrines), and issued substandard and sometimes worthless weapons. They got nothing like the fair and equal treatment they had been promised.43 In the battles and engagements they fought in 1863 and 1864, at Port Hudson, Louisiana; Milliken’s Bend, Louisiana; Fort Wagner, South Carolina; and Olustee, Florida, they generally fought bravely—the black regiments who made the doomed assault on Fort Wagner were legendary for their courage—but suffered staggeringly high mortality rates.

This was because rebels concentrated their fire on blacks, shot or bayoneted wounded black soldiers, executed black prisoners, and followed, for the most part, an unofficial Confederate policy of “no quarter for negroes.” After the fight at Port Hudson, a war correspondent wrote that no black prisoners were found either in hospitals or in the town.44 After the fight at Milliken’s Bend, senior Confederate officers were furious that any black prisoners had been taken at all, calling it a “disagreeable dilemma.”45 The officers did not know what to do with them other than shoot them or reenslave them, and both of those invited retaliation. Many of the black soldiers who were captured were returned to slavery—even some who had never been slaves in the first place.I Southerners refused to grant them the rights they granted to white soldiers.

Fort Pillow was at once the Civil War’s most lurid atrocity and the one that everybody knew about. The war had been far bloodier and more terrible than anyone could possibly have imagined. Men had had their brains and guts splattered across battlefields from Arkansas to Florida. But here was something new. The images that rocketed through newspapers in the North showed white rebel soldiers hacking wounded, surrendering black soldiers to pieces with sabers. They showed Southern soldiers in a fury killing the thing they had subjugated, the thing that was now rising up against them. There was something at once horrifying and futile about these acts, and perhaps this was the meaning of a war of black liberation. Black soldiers were changing the war’s moral and physical logic. By the end of the war 180,000 black men would enlist in the Union army, of whom more than half were former slaves. They made up more than 10 percent of the entire Union army, enough indeed to change the balance of the war.

I. The South’s policies of reenslavement of escaped slaves extended to the Gettysburg campaign in 1863, during which as many as a thousand blacks were captured—many in Pennsylvania—to be returned to their owners. These captured men were not soldiers but suffered the same fate as many black men in arms.






CHAPTER THREE Armies of Spring
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ROBERT E. LEE: His Army of Northern Virginia was the closest thing to an invincible force in American history, but now faced the indomitable Ulysses S. Grant.



On May 2, 1864, General Robert E. Lee assembled his top generals at a signal station atop an elevated ridge known as Clark’s Mountain. They arrived on horseback and stood in the bracing air, gazing out at the gently swelling lands of central Virginia. The place was lovely. Spring was exploding in a dozen shades of green. Eight hundred feet below them the Rapidan River shimmered in slanting sunlight. Beyond the river spread a flowered broad meadowland. At first glance one could believe that this expanse was still the old Piedmont, timeless and handsome and lazy, the way it had been before the ravening armies came.

Seen through field glasses, however, the illusion vanished. The banks of Rapidan were riven and scarred with fortifications. The fields in the valley were green, yes, but untended, weed choked, overgrown. Trees had systematically been chopped from the landscape for fuel and to build the thousand things an army needed, from huts to corduroy roads. Houses and fences and barns had vanished into company campfires. Crumbling chimneys and smashed-up cisterns were all that remained of many farms. Livestock had been slaughtered and consumed. The land had been plundered, wrecked, stripped bare.1

In place of the Currier-and-Ives Virginia now stood a military colossus containing more people than all but eight American cities and nearly twice the population of Washington, DC, a technological monstrosity that had consumed or overtaken almost everything one could see from the top of the mountain.I The Army of the Potomac, commanded by Grant’s subordinate George G. Meade, the general who had won the Battle of Gettysburg, was the largest force ever assembled on the North American continent.

Its presence on the Rapidan was the reason Lee had gathered his commanders from the Army of Northern Virginia together that day, field glasses in hand. Clark’s Mountain offered one of the best tactical vantage points of the war, a place from which the entirety of the enemy could be viewed at leisure, down to his latrines, telegraph lines, artillery parks, mule trains, and boxcars.2 The encampment’s conical white tents and log huts sprawled for miles along the river’s northern bank, subsuming the towns of Brandy Station, Culpeper, and Stevensburg, while above them thousands of columns of smoke rose languidly into the sky.3 The sheer scope of it all was jaw-dropping, even to men who were accustomed to managing large armies. To the west the rebel generals could see clearly the Union supply line—the curving black scar of the Orange and Alexandria Railroad—over which rolled seemingly endless supplies of fresh troops and supplies. To the east was the blur of deep green scrubland known as the Wilderness. The generals paid particular attention to this piece of the landscape. Almost exactly one year before it had been the scene of Robert E. Lee’s greatest victory and one of the great tactical masterpieces in the history of warfare: the Battle of Chancellorsville.

Lee had long ago gotten used to the idea that he would always be outnumbered. But now he could see in agonizing detail the size of Grant’s advantage. By his own estimate of the troops in both camps that day, the Union held a twenty-thousand-man edge.4 He would soon revise that. In the looming fight he would field only 64,000 soldiers against the Army of the Potomac’s 120,000. Grant would have all of the reinforcements he needed. Lee could expect few and would have to draw them from existing reserves. If Lee had not faced similar odds before and won, as he had at Fredericksburg and Chancellorsville, a casual observer might have said he had no chance at all.

Lee’s own army lay on the steep, wooded riverbank below him. His men had been there all winter, barricaded into a fortress of earth and timber. Except for a brief and bungled Yankee attempt to cross the river in February, the rebels had mainly been staring at the federal pickets across the Rapidan, waiting for the rains to end and the war to start up again in earnest. Though these soldiers were separated by only a thin ribbon of water, they were in other ways worlds apart. The army in blue on the northern shore was the best-fed, best-trained, best-clothed, and best-equipped fighting force in the history of the world. It was supported by a rapidly industrializing nation with good credit and a ready supply of money. For its troops the preceding months had mostly been snug and happy. “This was the most cheerful winter we had passed in camp,” recalled George T. Stevens, a surgeon with the 77th New York regiment. “One agreeable feature was the great number of ladies, wives of officers, who spent the winter with their husbands. On every fine day… [the] ladies might be seen riding about the camps and over the desolate fields, and their presence added greatly to the brilliancy of the frequent reviews.”5 The men ate a relatively balanced diet that included pork or beef, dried vegetables and dried apples, onions, potatoes, turnips, cabbage, and pickles, and even soft bread instead of the usual rock-hard biscuits known as hardtack. They had sugar. They had plenty of coffee.6

There was far less joy on the southern bank. The men in butternut and gray were raggedly clothed and hopelessly shod and subsisted on a barely digestible mush of salt pork and cornmeal. Salt pork, composed mostly of pig fat, was heavily salted, often bluish in color, and generally issued with hair, dirt, and skin left on. Coffee was made from acorns, or worse. The rebels dreamed of Yankee coffee and exulted whenever they captured some. The Army of Northern Virginia had become the appendage of a failing nation, which was an apt description of the Confederacy in the spring of 1864. A Union naval blockade had choked off inflows of food, medicine, and manufactured products. Exports of cotton, the South’s main source of revenue, had fallen by 95 percent. Shortages were acute. As the supplies of food and clothing and seed and farm tools and everything else dwindled, inflation ran wild. From October 1861 to March 1864, prices in the South had risen an average of 120 percent per year. A suit of clothes now cost seven hundred increasingly worthless Confederate dollars; a pair of shoes more than forty. In Richmond, people observed that, where once they took a purse full of money to the market and carried food home in a basket, they now carried in a basket of money and came out with a purse full of food.7 The nation was as good as bankrupt, bled dry by a war it could not afford and by a war-ravaged economy that was producing a fraction of the goods it once made.8 The soldiers felt all of this acutely, from their ragamuffin shoes to their dwindling rations, substandard tents, and, most worrisome of all, their impoverished families back home. These and other hardships accounted for the army’s shockingly high rate of absenteeism: 10 percent of Lee’s army was not there.9 Some of these men were on “French leave” and might return. Many others had deserted for good.

In spite of all that—amazingly—morale in the Army of Northern Virginia was high. Many of the men had reenlisted. These gaunt, hollow-eyed rebels with sallow skin were, after all, the nearest thing in all of American history to an invincible army. They had dominated the first three years of the war in the east. They had won dramatic victories at First Bull Run, Seven Days, Cedar Mountain, Second Bull Run, Fredericksburg, and Chancellorsville. At Antietam they had fought a drawn battle against an enemy more than twice their size. Five times Union armies had moved toward the Confederate capital at Richmond, and five times Lee and his army had defeated them. He had humiliated and caused to be removed from command a succession of once-glorious Union generals: George McClellan, John Pope, Ambrose Burnside, and Joseph Hooker. (In late fall 1863, George Meade had failed to dislodge Lee at the Battle of Mine Run, though he remained in command.) Gettysburg had been the lone defeat. But Lee and his army did not necessarily see it that way. They had not surrendered. The enemy had not even pursued them after the battle. In their minds they had been the ones who had carried the attack deep into the North; they had been the assaulting force; they had caused the numerically superior Union army to fight a desperate defensive battle it had come tantalizingly close to losing. Lee wrote to his wife the day after the battle, “We failed to drive the enemy from his position.” As a matter of hard, objective fact, he was not wrong. His men adored him. “I am sure that there can never have been an army with more supreme confidence in its commander than [the Army of Northern Virginia] had in Gen. Lee,” wrote rebel artillerist Edward Porter Alexander. “We looked forward to victory under him as to successive sunrises.”10

All of which was cold comfort now. Standing atop Clark’s Mountain, the graying, fifty-seven-year-old general could see not only what was in front of him. He could see beyond that to unseen armies in remote parts of Virginia that were also being marshaled against him, and to the immense troop movements that were about to begin whose intent was to place him in a box from which he could not escape and then to destroy him in place. Already, 165,000 Union soldiers assigned to do just that were in the Commonwealth of Virginia. Their purpose and whereabouts were closely held Union secrets, and only the federal high command knew them in detail. Just what Ulysses S. Grant, victor of Vicksburg and Chattanooga and savior of the Union, was going to do as chief of the federal armies was the talk of both nations.

Although Lee had no formal chief of intelligence and only two staff officers to help sort out strategic information, he was able, from his own observations and from reports of spies and scouts and accounts in the press, to piece together an astonishingly accurate picture of where Grant and his armies were going.11 Since the Army of the Potomac could not attack Lee head-on, it would move by its left, Lee said, to the south and east. As he gazed out with his officers, he pointed to two downstream points on the Rapidan: Germanna Ford and Ely’s Ford. The Yankees would cross there, he said. He had also figured out that a Union army would be moving up the James River, well south and east of Lee’s present position, to threaten Richmond.12 He even correctly guessed that another Union force would be attacking rebel armies to the west in Virginia, moving specifically against the Virginia and Tennessee Railroad. All this would happen as he said it would, and all of it would require his attention.

For now he had to worry about what was directly in front of him. Lee had been to Clark’s Mountain many times in the past months to see what all those men and horses were doing on the far side of the river. Mostly they had been doing nothing in particular other than consuming and excreting gigantic amounts of food and forage. But that was changing. Activity in the camps was quickening. Just after midnight on the night of May 4, the Union army arose, shook off the last of its winter lethargy, and began its leftward march on the hard, dry roads, just as Lee had predicted. Men remembered the morning’s march as one of those perfect moments that often preceded extreme carnage: the air was gentle and warm, the sky was filled with stars; around Stevensburg the roadsides were covered in violets.13

Dawn uncovered a spectacular sight: the largest army ever seen on the continent flowing southeast in a rolling sea of blue. The men came on steadily and massively in their divisions and brigades and regiments, their columns stretching for miles, winding down the gently sloping roads to the fords, and, when they got there, tramping loudly across the Rapidan on pontoon bridges at the rate of about three thousand men an hour, exactly where Lee said they would.14 The movement of such an army seemed less a traditional march than a grand pageant. Tens of thousands of rifle barrels flashed like heliographs in the morning sun, regimental flags snapped, bugles sounded, drums beat the march. With the army were more than sixty thousand horses. Behind them came the army’s enormous train, strung out for miles through the woods: 4,300 wagons, 835 ambulances, and a herd of cattle.15

The march went off flawlessly, prompting Meade’s chief of staff, Andrew Humphreys, to boast, “It was a good day’s work in such a country for so large an army, with its artillery and fighting trains, to march twenty miles, crossing a river bridge of its own making, without a single mishap, interruption, or delay.” Grant thought the day a “great success.”16

Still, something about the whole exercise was inescapably odd. Grant had believed that the movement of his army would likely be contested by the enemy. Men on the march were highly vulnerable, as was the army’s supply train, which trailed behind it for miles like the tail of a dragon. But Lee had not even tried to stop them. So as the day waned and the army continued to push south of the Rapidan, the time had come to ask, What exactly was Robert E. Lee, perhaps the most aggressive and purely belligerent general in either army, planning to do?



WHATEVER THE ANSWER WAS—Grant would not have to wait long to find out—Lee’s actions would be driven by a single, concentrated idea. Though the war had defied all expectations of what was supposed to happen, or of how or when the end might come, by the spring of 1864 a single truth had loomed into view. Both sides acknowledged it, though they could agree on almost nothing else. The truth was that the outcome of all of this bloodshed, the final resolution, now hinged on a single event: the November presidential election in the North. The fate of both nations rested on the political fortunes of a single man. Americans had hoped in the past that the warring sides could sit down at a mahogany table somewhere and finally come to their senses and make peace. The war was too terrible and bloody and costly to continue, and for those reasons it would have to stop. Southerners in particular had hoped that the British or French or even the Russians might intervene diplomatically to broker an acceptable peace. Some believed the Union could be restored as it was before the war. Some believed that the peace would be made by two independent, sovereign nations, one slave, one free. Either way, the idea of peace, negotiated peace, seemed always to hang in the air like smoke over a battlefield.

In the end these were all illusions. Abraham Lincoln wasn’t going along with any of them, and as long as he was in office, nothing else mattered. He had by then established two simple yet nation-defining requirements for peace talks: first, that there could be no consideration of anything less than a full union of American states; and second, that there could be no slavery in that union. As Fort Pillow had so cruelly illustrated, a line had been crossed. Politicians on both sides spun a good deal of blather around this, but if Confederate president Jefferson Davis and his Congress wanted to talk peace, it would have to be on those terms. Despite growing antiwar sentiment in the South, the men in power in the Confederate government were not in several lifetimes going to agree to Lincoln’s stipulations.

So half a century of bitter political fighting had come down to an election, and the main goal of both armies along the Rapidan was to affect its outcome. If the Union won on the battlefield, Lincoln would be reelected, and if Lincoln was reelected, then the North’s crushing superiority in money, men, and matériel would soon triumph in the war. The life of the Confederacy—the official one, anyway—would likely be measured in months. If the Union lost on the battlefield, Lincoln would lose at the polls, and the man who beat him would be a Democrat elected for the specific purpose of ending the war. Both sides saw it that way. In the war’s new logic, deaths on the battlefield meant votes at Northern polling stations. “Every bullet we can send… is the best ballot that can be deposited against [Lincoln’s] election,” wrote the Daily Constitutionalist in Augusta, Georgia, on January 2, 1864. “The battlefields of 1864 will hold the polls of this momentous decision.”17

Lincoln was in the deepest trouble of his political career. He believed that he would likely lose the coming election. His unpopularity—reflected in the rise of a vigorous antiwar, anti-Lincoln movement—was due in his critics’ eyes to a litany of sins: his mismanagement of the war and his failure to win in spite of large expenditures of blood and money; his “despotic” abuse of power by suspending habeas corpus and imposing martial law in volatile border states and jailing political dissidents; and his irresponsible issuance of the Emancipation Proclamation, which had changed the war from a reasonable attempt to restore the union to a misguided exercise in universal black liberation. The latter was for many citizens of the North the most egregious error of all, as antiwar Copperhead Democrats were happy to remind them. “Let every vote count in favor of the white man,” one Ohio Democrat thundered in the Dayton Daily Empire, “and against the abolition hordes who would place negro children in your schools, negro jurors in your jury boxes, and negro votes in your ballot boxes!”18 But Northerners did not have to be racist to be heartily sick of the war. Lincoln was not wrong about his waning political fortunes. He was fading fast.

Thus as Ulysses S. Grant’s enormous army moved out on the early morning of May 4, all bets were on the table. That same day he put virtually every Union soldier in Virginia in motion, a coordinated set of attacks that had no precedent in the war: he sent one army racing up the James River to threaten Richmond, another pushing south through the Shenandoah Valley to threaten Lee’s supply lines; yet another in western Virginia was to hit critical infrastructure that included railroads, salt works, and lead mines. Grant believed that he had less than six months to defeat the South, and he was wasting no time.19 Lee felt a similar urgency. Though he had no illusions that he could win the larger war, by defeating Grant now he might make it stop, and possibly on terms favorable to the Confederacy. So everything was at risk. There would be no more of the aimless drift that had characterized the early war: battles here and there to no particular end except holding or taking real estate, which turned out to be pointless exercises. The movement of all that glorious flashing steel on May 4 was the beginning of the finish fight. Grant versus Lee. The nation, which understood that, waited breathlessly to see what was going to happen. “These are fearfully critical, anxious days,” wrote Union diarist George Templeton Strong. “The destinies of the continent for centuries depend in great measure on what is now being done.”20

I. According to the 1860 census, the population of Washington was 75,000. Grant’s army contained 120,000 soldiers. The Union camp on the north side of the Rapidan would have included many people in addition to soldiers, from quartermaster and medical personnel to wagon drivers, sutlers, and escaped slaves.






CHAPTER FOUR A Wilderness of Pain



[image: Image]
ULYSSES S. GRANT: His men likened him to “Thor, the Hammerer” because of his relentlessly aggressive style of fighting.



The worst Union defeat of the Civil War had taken place at the Battle of Chancellorsville in May 1863. Robert E. Lee, with a brilliant assist from Thomas J. “Stonewall” Jackson, had soundly beaten a Union army twice Lee’s size under the command of Major General Joseph Hooker. That enormous army had then retreated ignominiously across the Rappahannock River. Two principal lessons were to be learned from such a grand-scale humiliation. First, that Lee and Jackson were smarter, more resourceful, and more daring than any generals on the Union side. And second, that the Union had given away its advantages of size and firepower by allowing the battle to take place in the Wilderness, which was every soldier’s idea of the worst place in the world to fight. That woodland, which spread twelve miles by six miles on the southern flanks of the Rapidan and Rappahannock Rivers, was less a forest than a trackless snarl of scrub oak, dwarf pine, cedar, hickory, thorns, and brambles. Brambles, especially. The landscape was a by-product of the local iron industry, which had cut down all of the original trees to make charcoal. In their place had sprung up this ugly, dense, swampy, second-growth brush.

By accident of history—for there is no other way to explain it—the route that Major General George G. Meade had now chosen across the Rapidan River fords led right through the heart of the Wilderness. (Grant had given Meade operational control over the army, at least for a while.) That was not because he wanted to fight a battle there. Fighting there was the last thing he wanted to do. What could be more foolish than a strategy that handed Robert E. Lee back his old advantages of terrain and took away the federal edge in artillery? Thus the idea in the spring of 1864 was to pass through the Wilderness as briskly as possible, then turn in a westerly direction out of the dense brush and into more open country. The objective was to flush Lee from behind his Rapidan earthworks. The plan, concocted by the cautious, temperamental George Meade and his staff, looked good on paper. The only conceivable risk was that the Army of Northern Virginia would ambush the Army of the Potomac in that suffocating thicket. But that could not possibly happen, Meade said. He and his staff knew with certainty that Lee could never move quickly enough to pull off such a maneuver.

That calculation was one of the most fatuous, ill-advised, and costly command errors of the Civil War. Thousands of men would die for it. The Battle of the Wilderness, as it came to be called, turned on it. Something about that tangled woodland, with its unmapped thickets and tortured byways, impaired the judgment of Union commanders.1

Lee had seen the Union army moving at an early hour. He had decided that, instead of contesting the river crossing, he would flood the countryside with cavalry, which would tell him where the enemy was and where it was going. By 10:00 a.m. on May 4, he knew that the main body of the Army of the Potomac was headed for the heart of the Wilderness. Lee decided that Grant and Meade had made a serious mistake. He threw his 2nd and 3rd Corps under lieutenant generals Richard S. Ewell and A. P. Hill on the road, heading due east and directly into the guts of Meade’s army. Lee’s plan was to intercept that army as quickly as possible and pin it in the Wilderness—engaging it but not bringing on a full-scale fight—until his 1st Corps under Lieutenant General James Longstreet arrived to deliver a hammer blow to the Union left. This plan had two problems: first, Lee’s troops had gotten a late start and might not arrive in time to catch the Union soldiers in the woods; and second, Lee would have only about a third of his opponent’s force with which to hold the enemy in place. But the tactical conceit was breathtaking. If the maneuver succeeded, Lee stood a good chance of rolling up the Union flank just as Stonewall Jackson had done a year before. (Jackson had died from wound-related pneumonia after Chancellorsville.) Like many of Lee’s maneuvers, it involved enormous risk.

Meade and Grant were, meanwhile, making a succession of mistakes that Lee would see, grasp, and quickly move to exploit. Having assumed that Lee would not try to hit him in the Wilderness, Meade had then compounded that error by dispatching most of his cavalry—the eyes and ears of the army—on a pointless mission to the east chasing phantom rebels, leaving a scant thirty-five hundred mounted men under an inexperienced commander to cover a ten-mile front.2 They were not equal to the task. As a result, the Union high command had no idea where most of the rebel army was. Somewhere to the west, they supposed, well out of range.

But that mistake paled in comparison to the one Meade made, with the acquiescence of Grant, in midafternoon. With Lee’s army running dead at them, the Union high command made the astonishing decision to order the army to stop marching and make camp—in the middle of the Wilderness. The reason was to let the army’s supply train catch up, a consideration that, by comparison, had never slowed Stonewall Jackson’s victorious armies or hampered Grant in his Vicksburg campaign. But now it stopped Grant’s entire spring offensive. Supply-line obsession was just ingrained Union caution and timidity, the old habit from the McClellan days of worrying compulsively about all the things that could possibly go wrong. Like so many Union generals before him, offense unnerved Meade, and in any case he was convinced that Lee’s army was still a long way off, digging in behind earthworks. So Meade’s hard-marching divisions were allowed to make camp and build fires and eat dinner in the balmy spring air.

While the Union soldiers relaxed and sipped coffee, Lee’s corps commanders were pushing their troops hard down two narrow, east-west running roads that pierced the Wilderness, the Orange Turnpike and the Orange Plank Road. The next day Union troops were astounded to find large numbers of rebels in front of them. As the armies prepared to fight, the advantages of Lee’s chosen terrain became immediately apparent. Though Meade’s army had twice as many soldiers, his division commanders had a brutally difficult time bringing their men forward for combat or moving them into place. One division required more than four hours to cover a mile of ground. Once a brigade of men had been brought up, officers found it nearly impossible to form them into coherent battle lines or to link them with other brigades. At 7:15 a.m. Meade ordered his 5th Corps under Major General Gouverneur Warren—twenty-four thousand men—to charge Ewell’s force on the Orange Turnpike. But Warren required more than five hours to get his men into line and even then did not feel prepared to attack. When he did move, it was with only part of the force that should have been available to him, and he did so reluctantly and without the benefit of Union artillery, which was virtually useless because the density of the woods greatly limited the deployment of guns and also made it often impossible for gunners to see what they were shooting at. Thus many of the nominally huge Union advantages were nullified.

The fighting was horrific in the extreme and desperate in a way that shocked even veterans. It was like fighting in darkness, or a darkness pierced by thousands of pieces of flying lead. The men could not see each other, except at close range. Whole regiments were swallowed by the thickets; soldiers in the same army found themselves shooting at one another. Men hacked and scraped their way forward, or whichever way seemed like forward, through thorn-filled swamps and gullies, groping for the precise position of the invisible enemy while bullets ripped through the trees and bushes and everyone around them. The firing was so intense that small trees were cut down, most of them at the murderous height of three to five feet. Much of the fighting was at close quarters, which was the only way you could see the enemy anyway.

To the usual horrors of spurting blood, spilling intestines, and exploding heads was now added a less familiar one: fire. First breastworks, then woodlands, then fields, were aflame, engulfing the wounded, who screamed for help that rarely came and tried to claw and drag themselves out of the inferno. Many were roasted alive. Many men suffocated, and one couldn’t tell, from the charred corpses, who had been roasted and who had died sucking air.3 Fire did something else, too: it blew up the cartridge belts the men carried at their waists. The individual cartridges—powder and bullets in a soft wrapping—made rapid, high-pitched popping sounds when they went off and caused appalling wounds, ripping men’s bellies open. Many soldiers preferred suicide to being burned to death or perforated by their own detonating cartridges. They had only to listen to the screams of men being roasted alive to see what lay ahead of them. “I saw one man, both of whose legs were broken,” wrote one soldier, “lying on the ground with his cocked rifle by his side and his ramrod in his hand, and his eyes set on the front. I knew he meant to kill himself in case of fire.”4 Observed Grant’s aide Horace Porter, “It seemed as though Christian men had turned to fiends, and hell itself had usurped the place of earth.”5

A change in the soldiers’ behavior had also made the fight far more lethal. Entrenchments had become common in the war. In the first two years they had been used mainly when armies were protecting fixed locations. Later armies built fortifications of wood and dirt when they were on active campaign. But in the Wilderness, and in the series of battles that followed it, the practice of digging in during battle became the rule rather than the exception, and the men quickly refined it to an art. They were like fiddler crabs: whenever they stopped somewhere for more than a few moments, they started digging. Later photographs of Saunders’ Field, one of the few cleared areas on the Orange Turnpike, show that Ewell’s breastworks had rifle pits two feet deep fronted by stacked, mud-chinked logs as much as five feet high.6 The works went up quickly, too. “Within one hour there is a shelter against bullets, high enough to cover a man kneeling,” wrote one of Meade’s staff in a letter home. “… When our line advances, there is the line of the enemy, nothing showing but the bayonets, and the battle flags stuck on top of the works.”7

The result of the first day of fighting was a rout of the federals around the Orange Turnpike in the morning and, ultimately, a tactical victory for Richard Ewell’s 2nd Corps. To the south, where the terrain worked equally well in Lee’s favor, the Union army fared only slightly better. In the afternoon, thirty-three thousand Union soldiers under Major General Winfield S. Hancock, one of the heroes of Gettysburg, attacked A. P. Hill’s sixty-five hundred rebels and failed completely to dislodge them. By 6:00 p.m. on May 5 the battles on both roads were temporarily suspended. The Wilderness that paralyzed the Union had also prevented the Confederacy from winning a dominant victory. Men on both sides collapsed in place and in silence.

The second day saw more of the same furious, close-range fighting along the two roads, the same high levels of casualties, the same fire that swept through woods and field, the same terrifying inability to tell friend from foe. Attacks and counterattacks continued, as the two armies pushed each other up and down the battlefield. Ironically, after being too cautious in the early going, Meade and Grant were too impatient later on: they repeatedly ordered their forces to attack before they were ready, before they had gathered sufficient numbers of men. The battle on the second day was memorable for two brilliant Confederate flank attacks. The first was the one in Lee’s battle plan: after Hill had succeeded in pinning the Union army in place, James Longstreet’s 1st Corps made a stunning run around the left of the Union 2nd Corps using an old railroad cut, rolling up the left wing of the army and nearly ending the battle right there. But in the Wilderness it was hard to press an advantage. Longstreet was severely wounded by friendly fire in the neck and shoulder—eerily reminiscent of Stonewall Jackson’s fate a year earlier—and the offensive ran out of steam. A few hours later, another successful rebel flank attack a few miles north along the Orange Turnpike that had smashed the Union right to pieces and thrown a massive scare through the high command had collapsed, too, when it had run into impenetrable breastworks.

When the smoke finally cleared and the bodies were counted, the magnitude of the Confederate victory became apparent. Though Lee had by no means destroyed the Army of the Potomac as a fighting unit, and he had done little more than stop Grant’s grand offensive in its tracks, he had dealt Grant a blow that, measured strictly by casualties, was even worse than the damage the rebel general had inflicted at Chancellorsville. In that battle, Union casualties were fourteen thousand (killed, wounded, missing) over three days, compared to the South’s ten thousand. In two days in the Wilderness the Union had lost nearly eighteen thousand to Lee’s eleven thousand. Which meant that, numerically speaking, the Union setback was the worst of the war to date. Lee’s victory was strictly tactical: the armies ended the fight roughly in the same positions they had occupied at its start. But Grant had been stopped cold. His men had been slaughtered by the thousands.
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